Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-19-2017

State v. Kiepke Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44713

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Nature of the Case1
Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings
ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL
ARGUMENT6
The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Kiepke's Motion To Suppress6
A. Standard of Review6
B. The District Court Should Have Suppressed All The Evidence Found In This Case Because It Was Found As The Result Of The Officer Unlawfully Prolonging The Traffic Stop To Conduct An Unjustified Dog Sniff
CONCLUSION12
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325 (1990)	8	
Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385 (1978)	6	
Rodriguez v. United States, U.S, 135 S. Ct. 1609 (2015)	7, 11	
State v. Barwick, 94 Idaho 139 (1989)	11	
State v. Bishop, 146 Idaho 804 (2009)	8	
State v. Bunting, 142 Idaho 908 (Ct. App. 2006)	11	
State v. Kelley, 160 Idaho 761 (Ct. App. 2016)	passim	
State v. Liechty, 152 Idaho 163 (Ct. App. 2011)	11	
State v. Linze, 161 Idaho 605 (2016)	7, 8, 10	
State v. Page, 140 Idaho 841 (2004)	10, 11	
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)	10, 11	

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

William Kiepke contends the district court erred when it denied his motion to suppress evidence of drugs and paraphernalia found during a traffic stop. Specifically, in concluding that officers had not impermissibly delayed Mr. Kiepke's detention by abandoning the mission of the traffic stop in order to conduct a dog sniff, the district court erroneously concluded the delay was permissible because it was only *de minimus*. Both the United States Supreme Court and the Idaho Supreme Court have clearly rejected that sort of analysis.

Under the proper analysis, the officer did not have reasonable suspicion to justify the dog sniff, and so, his decision to abandon the mission of the traffic stop to conduct that dog sniff unlawfully prolonged the detention. All the evidence found during the ensuing searches of Mr. Kiepke's car and of his person should have been suppressed as poisonous fruit because it was all come at by exploiting the illegal prolongation of that detention. As such, this Court should reverse the order denying Mr. Kiepke's motion to suppress and remand this case for further proceedings.

Statement of Facts & Course of Proceedings

Mr. Kiepke was at a gas station around midnight and was having what he described as a verbal argument with his girlfriend, Rachel. (Tr., p.7, Ls.11-12; Exhibit 1, 1:24.)¹ He started out talking through the window of her car before he went into the convenience store. (Tr., p.20,

¹ All citations to "Tr." in this brief refer to the volume containing the transcript of the motion to suppress hearing held on October 6, 2016. Exhibit 1 is the video from the officer's body camera, which was admitted during the motion to suppress hearing. (*See* Tr., p.18, L.14 - p.19, L.16.) If it is appropriate, a reference to the relevant time stamp in the video will be included in the citation.

Ls.10-17.) When he came back out, he got into his own car, and his girlfriend got into the passenger seat. (Tr., p.10, Ls.17 - p.11, L.3.) She got out soon after, and Mr. Kiepke began to drive away. (Tr., p.11, Ls.11-13.)

A police officer had been observing their interactions. Specifically, he was watching Rachel,² who the officer considered to be a person of interest in a drug investigation. (*See* Tr., p.7, Ls.24-25.) The officer also considered this gas station to be a "high drug trafficking area." (Tr., p.7, Ls.11-17.) However, he did not provide any details to explain why he thought Rachel was a person of interest, nor did he report seeing any exchange occur between Mr. Kiepke and Rachel. (*See generally* Tr.) In fact, the officer admitted he did not make note of anything particularly suspicious about Mr. Kiepke's behavior at the gas station in his report. (Tr., p.20, L.22 - p.21, L.2.) He simply felt "the whole thing was suspicious." (Tr., p.20, L.25 - p.21, L.1.) However, he also ran Mr. Kiepke's license plate information and learned that Mr. Kiepke did not have an Idaho driver's license and his driving privileges were suspended in two other states. (Tr., p.8, L.20 - p.9, L.14.) As a result, he ultimately pulled Mr. Kiepke over for failing to signal as he left the gas station and because he did not have a valid driver's license. (Tr., p.12, Ls.5-6.)

The officer did not mention the failure to signal at all when he approached Mr. Kiepke; instead he only asked about his lack of a driver's license. (*See* Exhibit 1.) Mr. Kiepke admitted he did not have a valid license, but was working to get one. (Tr., p.12, Ls.4-21; Exhibit 1.) Mr. Kiepke provided the officer with an identification card as well as the registration information and proof of insurance for the car. (Tr., p.12, Ls.23-25.) After only a minute and one-half, the

 $^{^2}$ The officer indicated that one "Rachel Vaughan" was the driver of the other car. (Tr., p.8, Ls.11-12.)

officer had Mr. Kiepke get out of the car so that he could conduct a dog sniff on the car. (Exhibit 1; Tr., p.13, Ls.6-14.) The officer frisked Mr. Kiepke, found nothing of note, and had Mr. Kiepke sit on the front of the patrol car while he went to conduct the dog sniff. (*See* Exhibit 1; Tr., p.13, Ls.4-5.) The officer admitted that, while he was conducting the dog sniff, none of the other officers on scene were writing tickets for the traffic violations. (Tr., p.26, Ls.11-19.)

The dog alerted on the car, and a subsequent search of the car found marijuana and various items of drug paraphernalia. (Tr., p.14, Ls.6-7, p.15, L.21 - p.16, L.15.) At that point, the officer placed Mr. Kiepke under arrest for possession of marijuana, possession of drug paraphernalia, and failure to purchase a driver's license. (Tr., p.15, Ls.13-15.) Officers then searched Mr. Kiepke incident to that arrest and found methamphetamine in one of his socks. (Tr., p.16, L.16 - p.17, L.17.)

Mr. Kiepke subsequently moved to suppress the evidence found in this case based on the fact that the officer had unlawfully prolonged the detention by abandoning the mission of the traffic stop in order to conduct the dog sniff. (R., pp.56-62.) The district court denied that motion. (Tr., p.34, Ls.20-22.) Specifically, it concluded the dog sniff was valid because "[t]here is no appreciable delay whatsoever between the time of justified stop for driving without a license and failing to use a turn signal and the canine circling the vehicle and alerting"; "[t]his is unlike a number of cases where stops were prolonged for multiple minutes on questionable grounds." (Tr., p.33, Ls.18-22; p.34, Ls.16-22.) As such, it concluded the search of the car was valid based on the dog's alert, and the search of Mr. Kiepke's person was valid because it was incident to a valid arrest. (Tr., p.33, L.24 - p.34, L.7.)

As a result of the district court's ruling, Mr. Kiepke entered a conditional guilty plea, by which he pled guilty to possession of methamphetamine while reserving his right to appeal the district court's decision on his motion to suppress. (*See* Tr., p.36, Ls.10-13.) The district court ultimately imposed and executed a unified sentence of five years, with one year fixed, concurrent to another case in which Mr. Kiepke had been on parole. (R., pp.92-93.) Mr. Kiepke filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp.95-96.)

<u>ISSUE</u>

Whether the district court erred when it denied Mr. Kiepke's motion to suppress.

ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Kiepke's Motion To Suppress

A. Standard Of Review

The standard of review of a motion to suppress is bifurcated, meaning the appellate court will accept the facts as found by the district court unless they are clearly erroneous, but it will review the application of the law to those facts *de novo*. *State v. Kelley*, 160 Idaho 761, 762 (Ct. App. 2016), *rev. denied*.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution forbids unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend IV. Warrantless searches and seizures are presumptively unreasonable. *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 390 (1978). Therefore, a warrantless search is presumed to violate the Fourth Amendment unless the State demonstrates that one of the exceptional, well-established, and well-delineated exceptions to this requirement is applicable to the facts. *Id.* at 390-91.

B. The District Court Should Have Suppressed All The Evidence Found In This Case
Because It Was Found As The Result Of The Officer Unlawfully Prolonging The Traffic
Stop To Conduct An Unjustified Dog Sniff

The district court decided the dog sniff was properly conducted because "[t]here is no appreciable delay whatsoever between the time of justified stop for driving without a license and failing to use a turn signal and the canine circling the vehicle and alerting"; "[t]his is unlike a number of cases where stops were prolonged for multiple minutes on questionable grounds." (Tr., p.33, Ls.18-22; p.34, Ls.16-19.) Basically, it concluded the dog sniff was proper because it was only a *de minimus* delay.

Both the Idaho Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court have expressly rejected that sort of analysis: "The rule isn't concerned with when the officer deviates from the original purpose of the traffic stop, it is concerned with the fact that the officer deviates from the original purpose of the stop at all." *State v. Linze*, 161 Idaho 605, ____, 389 P.3d 150, 154 (2016); *accord Rodriguez v. United States*, ____ U.S. ____, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1616 (2015). That means, "[w]hile such a brief period of time could reasonably be considered *de minimus*, the United States Supreme Court was clear in *Rodriguez* that *de minimus* exceptions are no longer available." *Linze*, 389 P.3d at 154. Rather, "[t]he critical question then, is . . . whether conducting the sniff prolongs—*i.e.* adds time to—the stop." *Rodriguez*, 135 S. Ct. at 1616 (internal quotation marks omitted). Therefore, the district court's decision on the motion to suppress was based on an improper legal analysis and should be vacated.

Furthermore, the sniff actually did add time to the detention, and thus, was impermissible. The United States Supreme Court has held that "the tolerable duration of police inquires in the traffic-stop context is determined by the seizure's 'mission'—to address the traffic violation that warranted the stop. *Id.* at 1614. As such, the detention "may last no longer than is necessary to effectuate that purpose." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and modifications omitted). Furthermore, "a dog sniff is not fairly characterized as part of the officer's traffic mission." *Id.* at 1615. Thus, delaying completion of the mission of a traffic stop in order to conduct a dog sniff (absent some additional fact establishing reasonable suspicion to extend the scope of the investigation) constitutes an unlawful prolongation of the seizure. *Id.* at 1616; *accord Linze*, 389 P.3d at 154; *Kelley*, 160 Idaho at 764.

The officer in this case abandoned the mission of the traffic stop so as to conduct a dog sniff. The purpose of the stop, according to the officer, was "[b]ecause he didn't have a driver's

license as well as a turn signal violation." (Tr., p.12, Ls.5-6.) The video from the officer's body camera reveals that the officer never mentioned the failure to signal to Mr. Kiepke at all. (See generally Exhibit 1.) As such, that aspect of the traffic stop was immediately abandoned. Rather, the officer focused his initial investigation on the status of Mr. Kiepke's driving privileges. (Exhibit 1; Tr., p.12, Ls.14-21.) However, after just a minute and one-half, the officer abandoned that investigation as well, deciding to have Mr. Kiepke exit the car so that he could conduct a dog sniff of the car instead. (Exhibit 1; Tr., p.13, Ls.6-14.) The officer admitted that, while he conducted the dog sniff, none of the other officers on scene were writing tickets for either of the reasons Mr. Kiepke was pulled over. (Tr., p.26, Ls.11-19.) Therefore, the officers abandoned the mission of the traffic stop, and the dog sniff added time to Mr. Kiepke's detention.

Such a prolongation is unlawful if the sniff was not independently justified by reasonable suspicion. *Linze*, 389 P.3d at 154 ("This new seizure cannot piggy-back on the reasonableness of the original seizure.") The State failed to carry its burden to prove there was a reasonable, particularized suspicion of drug activity in this case which would have justified expanding the scope of the investigation and deploying the dog. *See*, *e.g.*, *Kelley*, 160 Idaho at 763; *see also State v. Bishop*, 146 Idaho 804, 811 (2009) (quoting *Alabama v. White*, 496 U.S. 325, 329 (1990)) ("[R]easonable suspicion requires more than a mere hunch or 'inchoate and unparticularized suspicion."").

The Court of Appeals decision in *Kelley* is particularly applicable to this case, because it was evaluating a case with similar facts in regard to the same question – whether those facts justified prolonging the stop to allow for a dog sniff. *See Kelley*, 160 Idaho 761. The *Kelley* Court explained that, although reasonable suspicion is reviewed on the totality of the

circumstances, when the basis for the alleged suspicion is set forth by drawing adverse inferences from a collection of otherwise-innocuous facts (such as nervous behavior or unusual travel plans), there has to be some objective fact connecting those innocuous facts to criminal activity by this particular suspect. *See id.* at 764 ("The officer did not testify to any facts connecting Kelley's nervous behavior with criminal activity. Likewise, the officer did not testify to any objective facts linking Kelley's unusual travel plans to drug activity."). *Id.* Furthermore, the fact that "he was driving on the same road others have used to transport drugs," is not enough to establish the necessary *particularized* suspicion. *Id.* ("The use of a commonly travelled road does not give an officer reasonable suspicion to prolong a traffic stop."). Rather, in such cases, the officer is acting on nothing more than a hunch. *Id.*

As in *Kelley*, the officer in this case did not testify to any facts connecting Mr. Kiepke's behavior in the parking lot with criminal or drug activity. (*See generally* Tr.) Rather, the evidence here only shows a collection of otherwise-innocuous behavior: that Mr. Kiepke was at a gas station around midnight, went into the store, and argued with his girlfriend. (*See* Tr., p.7, L.6 - p.12, L.6; Exhibit 1, 1:24.) There was no evidence offered that any exchange of physical objects took place between Mr. Kiepke and Ms. Vaughan. (*See generally* Tr.) Furthermore, when the officer frisked Mr. Kiepke, he did not find anything noteworthy. (*See* Exhibit 1.) Thus, the totality of the circumstances does not show a *particularized* suspicion that Mr. Kiepke was involved in any sort of illicit activity. The officer's testimony actually bears this out. He admitted his report did not indicate any of Mr. Kiepke's actions were particularly suspicious; he testified he just felt "the whole thing was suspicious." (Tr., p.20, L.22 - p.21, L.2.) In other words, the officer admitted he only had an inchoate, unparticularized hunch.

Furthermore, as in *Kelley*, the only fact presented which might tend to connect Mr. Kiepke's otherwise-innocuous actions to drug activity was the officer's description of the location as a "high drug trafficking area." (*See* Tr., p.7, Ls.11-17.) However, as the Court of Appeals made clear in *Kelley*, the mere fact that this person was in an area which was open to the public, even though it has been the sight of others' past nefarious conduct, is not sufficient to establish the necessary *particularized* suspicion to justify prolonging this traffic stop to conduct a dog sniff of this person's car. *See Kelley*, 160 Idaho at 764. Therefore, just as in *Kelley*, a consideration of the totality of the circumstances in this case shows the officer was acting on a hunch when he decided to abandon the mission of the traffic stop and conduct the dog sniff. Since that dog sniff was not independently justified by reasonable suspicion, prolonging the detention to conduct that sniff was unlawful, and the evidence found as a result of that sniff should have been suppressed. *See Linze*, 389 Idaho at 154.

The suppression of the evidence should include the evidence found during the search of both Mr. Kiepke's car and his person, because all that evidence was "come at by the exploitation of the illegality." *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 485 (1963). As such, all that evidence is fruit of the poisonous tree. *Id.*; *State v. Page*, 140 Idaho 841, 846 (2004).

The connection between the illegal action and the search of the car is straightforward. As the district court indicated, the officers only gained probable cause to search the car through the dog's alert. (*See* Tr., p.33, Ls.23-24.) However, the dog sniff itself occurred during the time the detention was being unlawfully prolonged. Therefore, the evidence in the car was come at by exploiting the illegal prolongation of the detention.

The evidence found on Mr. Kiepke's person was similarly tainted. According to the officer, Mr. Kiepke was placed under arrest after the search of his car for several different

offenses: "driving without a driver's license, possession of paraphernalia, [and] possession of marijuana." (Tr., p.15, Ls.11-15.) As the district court indicated, the search Mr. Kiepke's person was only potentially justified as a search incident to arrest. (*See* Tr., p.34, Ls.2-4.) Because that search was only conducted due to that arrest and that arrest was premised on evidence which was found during the search of Mr. Kiepke's car, and because the search of the car was itself unlawful since the probable cause to conduct that search arose during an unlawfully-prolonged detention, the search of his person was come at, at least in part, by the exploiting the illegal prolongation of the detention.³ That means it was tainted by the unlawfully prolonged detention and should be suppressed as poisonous fruit. *Wong Sun*, 371 U.S. at 485; *Page*, 140 Idaho at 846.

Therefore, under the proper analysis, the evidence found on Mr. Kiepke's person, along with the evidence found in his car, should have been suppressed.

_

³ While, as the prosecutor argued below, the officer might have been able to arrest Mr. Kiepke for driving without a valid license from the outset of the encounter (an action which Mr. Kiepke does not concede would have been proper), the evaluation of whether the exclusionary rule applies turns on what the officer actually did, not what he might have, but did not, do. *See, e.g., State v. Liechty*, 152 Idaho 163, 170 (Ct. App. 2011); *State v. Bunting*, 142 Idaho 908, 917 (Ct. App. 2006); *cf. Rodriguez*, 135 S. Ct. at 1616 ("[t]he reasonableness of a seizure, however, depends on what the police in fact do."). Additionally, this sort of alternative justification for the search will not expunge the taint of illegal conduct when the alternative basis is intertwined with the illegal conduct. *See, e.g., State v. Barwick*, 94 Idaho 139, 142 (1989) (holding that, even though the defendant had consented to a search, that consent was given after he was illegally arrested, and the two events were so intertwined that the consent exception did not expunge the taint of the illegal arrest). Since the actions the officer actually undertook in this case indicate the arrest did not occur until after the unlawful prolonging of the detention, and that arrest was actually intertwined with that illegal conduct, this hypothetical alternate justification does not expunge the taint in this case.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Kiepke respectfully requests this Court reverse the order denying his motion to suppress and remand this case for further proceedings.