8-22-2017

State v. Kiepke Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44713

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

William Christian Kiepke appeals from the district court's denial of his motion to suppress.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

Officer Otter was patrolling through a Jackson's parking lot around midnight. (Tr., p. 7, Ls. 11-20.) It was a "high drug traffic area" and the officer was watching a drug-connected vehicle he had seen earlier in the day. (Tr., p. 7, L. 15 – p. 8, L. 2.) Another person was sitting in the vehicle, and Kiepke was outside of it, leaning into the window. (Tr., p. 8, Ls. 3-13.)

Another car was parked nearby; Officer Otter ran its license plates, confirming it belonged to Kiepke. (Tr., p. 8, Ls. 16-24.) The officer also discovered that Kiepke did not have an Idaho driver's license and that he "was suspended out of two other states." (Tr., p. 9, Ls. 7-14.)

Kiepke got into his own car. (Tr., p. 10, Ls. 14-25.) Officer Otter waited for Kiepke to leave—"but he obviously wasn't going to leave" with law enforcement there. (Tr., p. 9, Ls. 15-25.) So the officer drove out of the parking lot, waited, and watched Kiepke drive out of the parking lot. (Tr., p. 9, Ls. 18-20; p. 10, Ls. 14-19; p. 11, Ls. 10-17.) Officer Otter observed that Kiepke failed to signal as he turned and drove away. (Tr., p. 11, Ls. 22-25.)

Officer Otter pulled Kiepke over “[b]ecause he didn’t have a driver’s license as well as a turn signal violation.”¹ (Tr., p. 12, Ls. 1-6.) The officer introduced himself and brought up the driver’s license. (Tr., p. 12, Ls. 12-16.) Kiepke admitted “that he didn’t have a driver’s license and that he was ... suspended out of the other states,” and that “he was trying to pay fines.” (Tr., p. 12, Ls. 17-21.) Kiepke also informed the officer he was on parole. (See Tr., p. 26, L. 20 – p. 27, L. 4.) Officer Otter requested Kiepke’s identification, which led to the following exchange:

Q: He provided you with an I.D. card?

A: An I.D. card.

Q: What happened next?

A: I had him step out of the vehicle and take a seat on the front of my patrol vehicle.

Q: Why did you have him step out of the vehicle at that time?

A: Well, several reasons. It was my attention [sic] to arrest him for driving without a driver’s license, as well as I believe from what I saw in the parking lot, some sort of drug activity had occurred. So I didn’t want to destroy evidence, and I was planning on running my canine around the vehicle.

(Tr., p. 13, Ls. 1-14.)

Officer Otter ran his K-9 around the vehicle and it alerted on the driver’s side window. (Tr., p. 13, Ls. 12-16; p. 14, Ls. 6-9.) The officer searched the vehicle and found marijuana, syringes, and other drug paraphernalia inside it. (Tr., p. 15, Ls. 21-24;

¹ Officer Otter was asked whether “the basis for your stop ... was for the driver’s license issue and the turn signal,” to which he testified “Right.” (Tr., p. 21, Ls. 3-6.) The officer elaborated that the interaction with the woman in the parking lot additionally “gave me the interest in him,” but was “not the probable cause for my stop.” (Tr., p. 21, Ls. 7-15.)

p. 16, Ls. 11-15.) He then placed Kiepke under arrest “[f]or driving without a driver’s license, possession of paraphernalia, possession of marijuana.” (Tr., p. 15, Ls. 11-17.) Kiepke was searched and a small bag with methamphetamine was found in his sock, so he was “also arrested for possession of methamphetamine.” (Tr., p. 15, Ls. 15-17; p. 16, L. 16 – p. 17, L. 12.)

Kiepke was charged by information with possession of methamphetamine, possession of marijuana, possession of drug paraphernalia, and driving without a driver’s license. (R., pp. 37-38.) He filed a motion to suppress the evidence that was found. (R., pp. 56-63.)

Ruling on his motion, the district court noted that Kiepke could have been stopped for the signal violation alone, but that Officer Otter additionally “already [knew] that the defendant has no Idaho driver’s license and has been suspended in two other states.” (Tr., p. 33, Ls. 6-12.) The district court further found the K-9 sniff created “no appreciable delay whatsoever,” and kept a “justified basis for a more thorough search of the vehicle,” which “immediately uncovers multiple items of drug paraphernalia.” (Tr., p. 33, L. 18 – p. 34, L. 1.) The court concluded that:

There is ample justification for the arrest of the defendant himself, and in the search incident to the arrest, drugs are found in his left sock. So think under the circumstances of this case, on multiple grounds there is no basis whatsoever to suppress this evidence.

It was a valid stop. It was a valid search. It is a valid seizure of the evidence in this case. So I’m denying the motion to suppress and will not be writing up anything.

(Tr., p. 34, Ls. 2-11.)

Following the court's denial of his motion, Kiepke pleaded guilty to possession of methamphetamine pursuant to a plea agreement with the state. (Tr., p. 34, Ls. 20-25; p. 45, Ls. 16-20.) Kiepke reserved his right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress, and timely appealed from the judgment of conviction. (Tr., p. 44, L. 22 – p. 45, L. 2; R., pp. 78, 85-86, 92-97, 99-103.)

ISSUE

Kiepke states the issue on appeal as:

Whether the district court erred when it denied Mr. Kiepke's motion to suppress.

(Appellant's brief, p. 5.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Kiepke failed to show the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress?

ARGUMENT

Kiepke Fails To Show The District Court Erred In Denying His Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

Kiepke contends the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress because the evidence was found “as the result of the officer unlawfully prolonging the traffic stop to conduct an unjustified dog sniff.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 6 (capitalization altered).)

This argument fails because Kiepke was searched incident to an arrest for driving without a license, and the probable cause for that arrest developed before the arrest and before the K-9 sniff. The search was therefore constitutionally proper, and Kiepke fails to show that the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress evidence.

B. Standard Of Review

On review of a ruling on a motion to suppress, the appellate court defers to the trial court’s findings of fact unless clearly erroneous, but exercises free review of the trial court’s determination as to whether constitutional standards have been satisfied in light of the facts. State v. Willoughby, 147 Idaho 482, 485-86, 211 P.3d 91, 94-95 (2009); State v. Fees, 140 Idaho 81, 84, 90 P.3d 306, 309 (2004). If findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record, those “[f]indings will not be deemed clearly erroneous.” State v. Stewart, 145 Idaho 641, 648, 181 P.3d 1249, 1256 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting State v. Jaborra, 143 Idaho 94, 98, 137 P.3d 481, 485 (Ct. App. 2006)).

C. Kiepke Drove Without A License And Was Arrested For Driving Without A License; Therefore, His Arrest Was Supported By Probable Cause, And The Search Of His Person Was A Proper Search Incident To Arrest

The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. “A warrantless search is presumptively unreasonable unless it falls within certain special and well-delineated exceptions to the warrant requirement.” State v. Kerley, 134 Idaho 870, 873, 11 P.3d 489, 492 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 454-55 (1971); State v. Ferreira, 133 Idaho 474, 479, 988 P.2d 700, 705 (Ct. App. 1999).) A search incident to lawful arrest is one such exception to the warrant requirement and, as such, does not violate the Fourth Amendment. Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 762-63 (1969); Kerley, 134 Idaho at 874, 11 P.3d at 493. “For an arrest to be considered lawful, it must be based on probable cause” to believe the arrestee has committed a crime. State v. Bishop, 146 Idaho 804, 816, 203 P.3d 1203, 1215 (2009) (citations omitted). “Probable cause exists when the facts and circumstances known to the officer warrant a prudent man in believing that the offense has been or is being committed.” Id. (citations, quotations, and brackets omitted).

The officer here indisputably developed probable cause to arrest Kiepke for driving without a license in violation of Idaho Code Section 49-301(1). The officer verified through dispatch that Kiepke was driving without a license, and Kiepke himself readily admitted it to the officer. (Tr., p. 9, Ls. 7-14; p. 12, Ls. 14-21.) This alone would have justified the arrest, and the search incident to it. Virginia v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164, 171-72 (2008) (probable cause constitutionally justifies arrest and search thereto regardless of state laws imposing additional requirements); State v. Green, 158 Idaho 884, 892, 354 P.3d 446, 454 (2015) (“Therefore, it cannot be said that the principles in that

section limiting certain warrantless misdemeanor arrests to specific circumstances are constitutional in nature. Likewise, a violation of that statute is not a constitutional violation. Because there was no pre-constitution counterpart to Section 49–1407, a violation of this section is merely statutory in nature. And, because there was no constitutional violation in this case, suppression was inappropriate.”).

Moreover, even applying the statutory restrictions found in Idaho Code Section 49-1407, the officer here had ample grounds to believe Kiepke would disregard a written promise to appear in court, and therefore properly arrested him under state law. When pressed on this point Officer Otter testified:

Q. And in fact in this case, you didn't cite Mr. Kiepke for driving without privileges. You cited him for the 49-301, invalid driver's license. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, your testimony with the state was that you would have arrested him for that.^[2] Correct?

A. Yes.

Q. But you are familiar with Idaho Code 49-1407. Correct?

A. I am.

Q. So that code says that an officer shouldn't arrest somebody unless the person doesn't furnish satisfactory evidence of identity, you have reasonable probable grounds to believe a person would disregard a written promise to appear in court. So your testimony would be that Mr. Kiepke

² Trial counsel's "would have arrested" subjunctive-tense hypothetical understated the facts as testified to; when asked for the reasons why he arrested Kiepke, Officer Otter testified: "For driving without a driver's license, possession of paraphernalia, possession of marijuana, possession of—well, after the arrest, he was also arrested for possession of methamphetamine." (Tr., p. 15, Ls. 8-17; see also R., p. 10.) Thus, driving without a license was not what the officer "would have" arrested Kiepke for, but was among the things he actually did arrest him for.

didn't reasonably identify himself, and you didn't believe he would come to court?

A. I believed that there's a good chance he wouldn't come to court.

Q. Then you made that decision in 30 seconds?

A. Absolutely. Well, actually before the stop.

Q. So without having any conversation with Mr. Kiepke, you made a conclusion that he wouldn't come to court.

A. Yes.

Q. Based on what?

A. The fact that he was violating his parole and that he was committing a new crime, which would tell me that he is not planning on following the law anymore.

(Tr., p. 23, L. 6 – p. 24, L. 15.) The district court likewise found that “as soon as [the officer] contacts the defendant, the defendant admits that he doesn't have a valid driver's license and also advises the officer that he is on parole” (Tr., p. 33, Ls. 12-15), that “[t]here is ample justification for the arrest of the defendant himself” (Tr., p. 34, Ls. 2-3), and that “under the circumstances of this case, on multiple grounds there is no basis whatsoever to suppress this evidence” (Tr., p. 34, Ls. 5-7). Because the arrest of Kiepke was both constitutionally justified by probable cause and appropriate on state law grounds, his detention and arrest, and eventual search incident to that arrest, were all justified.

Kiepke's primary argument, below and on appeal, is that the evidence should have been suppressed as fruit of an illegally extended detention, which followed an alleged “abandonment” of the officer's original mission. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 6-11; R., pp. 59-61.) However, this argument fails because a search incident to a lawful arrest is

proper, and an arrest is constitutional so long as it is supported by probable cause. Chimel, 395 U.S. at 762-63; Kerley, 134 Idaho at 874, 11 P.3d at 493; Bishop, 146 Idaho 804, 816, 203 P.3d 1203, 1215. Moreover, the probable cause here³ would have also justified any *de facto* arrest that occurred as a result of any allegedly unlawful extension of the stop. See State v. Buell, 145 Idaho 54, 57, 175 P.3d 216, 219 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989); State v. Gallegos, 120 Idaho 894, 896, 821 P.2d 949, 951 (1991)). Because Officer Otter had probable cause to arrest Kiepke prior to any detention, any *de facto* arrest resulting from an extension of the traffic stop was constitutionally justified, and therefore the search incident to that arrest was accordingly legal.

On this point Kiepke argues that because the officer did not arrest him at the outset of the encounter, the arrest was “intertwined with the illegal conduct” of an extended detention, and an arrest for the traffic violation could not expunge the taint of illegality. (Appellant’s brief, p. 11, n. 3.) Kiepke claims that “[s]ince the actions the officer actually undertook in this case indicate the arrest did not occur until after the unlawful prolonging of the detention, and that arrest was actually intertwined with that illegal conduct, this hypothetical alternate justification does not expunge the taint in this case.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 11, n. 3.)

Kiepke has failed to support this theory on appeal. He cites to State v. Barwick, 94 Idaho 139, 140-41, 483 P.2d 670, 671-72 (1971), in which the defendant challenged

³ At the time of the K-9 sniff the officer had probable cause to arrest Kiepke not only for driving without a license, which he ultimately did arrest him for, but also for driving without privileges, the facts of which Kiepke freely admitted. (Tr., p. 9, Ls. 7-14; p. 12, Ls. 14-21.)

the consent given to a vehicle search. The defendant there was arrested before he consented to a search. Id. at 141, 483 P.2d at 672 (1971) (“After the arrest on the charge of vagrancy, Officer Ayars asked Barwick if it was all right for him to search his car and appellant consented.”). And of particular significance, the Barwick arrest was illegal—it was done “without probable cause or evidence to support it.” Id. at 141-42, 483 P.2d 672-73. Thus, where the “consent and search [were] accompanied by an illegal arrest,” the Barwick Court understandably concluded that the search could not have been lawfully consented to. Id. at 142, 483 P.2d at 673.

But the Barwick holding—that an illegal arrest will invalidate subsequent consent—is simply inapplicable where the arrest was legal and supported by probable cause, and the search was not based on consent. Here the officer had probable cause to arrest Kiepke for driving without a license, and that probable cause developed *before* the detention, before the arrest, and well before the K-9 sniffed the car. Thus, the search and the arrest were substantially contemporaneous. Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98, 111 (1980) (valid search may precede formal arrest if substantially contemporaneous). Kiepke has not shown that the traffic violation arrest was illegal, nor has he shown that the Barwick rule would apply to a legal arrest. Indeed, to show that Barwick would apply to these facts, Kiepke must show that an allegedly extended detention, intertwined with a perfectly legal arrest, could reach back in time to invalidate preexisting probable cause. Because Barwick does not stand for this proposition, Kiepke has failed to support this argument on appeal. See State v. Zichko, 129 Idaho 259, 263, 923 P.2d 966, 970 (1996).

Kiepke indisputably drove without a license. His arrest for driving without a license was proper both constitutionally and as a matter of state law, and justified the

search incident to arrest. The district court therefore correctly denied his motion to suppress evidence.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court affirm the district court's denial of Kiepke's motion to suppress.